COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DALE E. ALSAGER, D.O., Ph.D., APPELLANT,

٧.

BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE AND SURGERY; et al.,

RESPONDENTS.

APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF

RHYS A. STERLING, P.E., J.D. By: Rhys A. Sterling, #13846 Attorney for Appellant Dale E. Alsager

P.O. Box 218

Hobart, Washington 98025-0218 Telephone: 425-432-9348

Facsimile: 425-413-2455

Email: RhysHobart@hotmail.com

ORIGINAL

INTRODUCTION
Main Question On Appeal
Why Quasi-Criminal Actions Are Considered As Criminal Cases For Purposes Of The Fourth And Fifth Amendments
The Four Concrete Pillars Of Common Law And Constitutional Law Upon Which Dr Alsager's Appeal Is Firmly Supported2
ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW5
ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 8
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW
DISCUSSION AND ARGUMENT
Overview Of Constitutional Rights And Privileges
Continued Validity And Vitality Of Boyd
Physician Prescriptions Are Subject To Not Just A Reasonable, But A Heightened, Expectation Of Privacy, Recognized By Washington Law Prior To Statehood And Continuing Thereafter
The Warrantless Search By DOH Of PMP Database Without Probable Cause And Without Board Authorization Yielded Fruit Of The Poisonous Tree That Is Subject To The Exclusionary Rule 37
Wash. Const. Art I, §§ 7 And 9, Gunwall Analysis
Application Of Legal Principles To Challenged Findings, Conclusions And Orders
CONCLUSIONS
APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF

-- PAGE i

APPENDIX

APPENDIX INDEX	APP-1
COMMON ACRONYMS	
Appendix	APP
Certified Administrative Record	CAP

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Table of Cases

United States Constitution

U.S. Const., Amend. IV 1-3, 5-8, 21, 23, 26-32, 35-36, 40, 42, 46-47		
U.S. Const., Amend. V 1-3, 5-8, 14-15, 19, 21, 23-32, 40, 42-43, 45-47		
U.S. Const., Amend. XIV		
U.S. Supreme Court		
Blau v. United States, 340 U.S. 159, 71 S. Ct. 223, 95 L. Ed. 170 (1950)		
Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746 (1886) 1-2, 4-5, 19, 23-24, 26, 28-32, 42, 47		
Gibson v. Berryhill, 411 U.S. 564, 93 S. Ct. 1689, 36 L. Ed. 2d 488 (1973)		
Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965)		
<i>In re Ruffalo</i> , 390 U.S. 544, 88 S. Ct. 1222, 20 L. Ed. 2d 117 (1968)		
Marchetti v. United States, 390 U.S. 39, 88 S. Ct. 697, 19 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)		
One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Pennsylvania, 380 U.S. 693, 85 S. Ct. 1246, 14 L. Ed. 2d 170 (1965)		
Spevack v. Klein, 385 U.S. 511, 87 S. Ct. 625, 17 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1967)		
United States v. Hubbell, 530 U.S. 27, 120 S. Ct. 2037, 147 L. Ed. 2d 24 (2000)		
Village of Hoffman Estates v. The Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 102 S. Ct. 1186, 71 L. Ed. 2d 362 (1982)		
APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF PAGE iii		

<i>Younger v. Harris</i> , 401 U.S. 37, 91 S. Ct. 746, 27 L. Ed. 2d 669 (1971)
Ward v. Village of Monroeville, 409 U.S. 57, 93 S. Ct. 80, 34 L. Ed. 2d 267 (1972)
Zivotofsky v. Clinton, 566 U.S, 132 S. Ct. 1421, 182 L. Ed. 2d 423 (2012)
Washington State Constitution
Wash. Const. art. I, § 2
Wash. Const. art. I, § 3
Wash. Const. art. I, § 7 3, 5-8, 17, 26-27, 29, 32, 36-37, 39-42, 45-47
Wash. Const. art. I, § 9 3, 5-8, 17, 23, 26, 29, 32, 36-37, 40-42, 45-47
Wash. Const. art. I, § 29 5-8, 47
Washington Court Cases
Bond v. Department of Social & Health Services, 111 Wn. App. 566, 45 P.3d 1087 (2002)
Carter v. University of Washington, 85 Wn.2d 391, 536 P.2d 618 (1975)
Centimark Corporation v. Department of Labor and Industries, 129 Wn. App. 368, 119 P.3d 865 (2005)
Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul and Pacific R.R. Co. v. Washington State Human Rights Commission, 87 Wn.2d 802, 557 P.2d 307 (1976)
Clausing v. Department of Health, 90 Wn. App. 863, 955 P.2d 394 (1998)
Client A v. Yoshinaka, 128 Wn. App. 833, 116 P.3d 1081 (2005) 35, 36
Colonial Imports, Inc. v. Carlton Northwest, Inc., 121 Wn.2d 726, 853 P.2d 913 (1993)
APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF PAGE iv

Crescent Convalescent Center v. Department of Social and Health Services, 87 Wn. App. 353, 942 P.2d 981 (1997)
Deatherage v. State Examining Board of Psychology, 85 Wn. App. 434, 932 P.2d 1267, reversed on other grounds, 134 Wn.2d 131, 948 P.2d 828 (1997)
Deeter v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 376, 721 P.2d 519 (1986)
Dewberry v. George, 115 Wn. App. 351, 62 P.3d 525 (2002) 20
Fox v. Territory of Washington, 2 Wash. Terr. 297, 5 Pac. 603 (1884)
Haley v. Medical Disciplinary Board, 117 Wn.2d 720, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991)
Ikeda v. Curtis, 43 Wn.2d 449, 261 P.2d 684 (1953)
In re Estate of Mumby, 97 Wn. App. 385, 982 P.2d 1219 (1999)20
In re Haley, 156 Wn.2d 324, 126 P.3d 1262 (2006, Sanders, J., concurring)
<i>In re Kindschi</i> , 52 Wn.2d 8, 319 P.2d 824 (1958) 5, 18-19, 22, 47
In re Maxfield, 133 Wn.2d 332, 945 P.2d 196 (1997)
In re Revocation of the License to Practice Dentistry of Flynn, 52 Wn.2d 589, 328 P.2d 150 (1958)
<i>In re Sego</i> , 82 Wn.2d 736, 513 P.2d 831 (1973)
King v. Olympic Pipeline Company, 104 Wn. App. 338, 16 P.3d 45 (2000)
Longview Fibre Company v. Department of Ecology, 89 Wn. App. 627, 949 P.2d 851 (1998)
Lund v. State Department of Ecology, 93 Wn. App. 329, 969 P.2d 1072 (1998)
Murphy v. State, 115 Wn. App. 297, 62 P.3d 533 (2003)
APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF PAGE v

Nguyen v. State, Department of Health Medical Quality Assurance Commission, 144 Wn.2d 516, 29 P.3d 689 (2001)
Nims v. Washington Board of Registration, 113 Wn. App. 499, 53 P.3d 52 (2002)
Seymour v. Washington State Department of Health, Dental Quality Assurance Commission, 152 Wn. App. 156, 216 P.3d 1039 (2009)
State v. Boland, 115 Wn.2d 571, 800 P.2d 1112 (1990)
State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 81 P.3d 830 (2003)
State v. Earls, 116 Wn.2d 364, 805 P.2d 211 (1991)
State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)
State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 319 P.3d 9 (2014)
State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003)
State v. Jones, 146 Wn.2d 328, 45 P.2d 1062 (2002)
State v. Jorden, 160 Wn.2d 121, 156 P.3d 893 (2007)
State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) 26, 27, 40, 47
State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 62 P.3d 489 (2003)
State v. Parris, 163 Wn. App. 110, 259 P.3d 331 (2011) 34, 38, 39
State v. Simms, 10 Wn. App. 75, 516 P.2d 1088 (1973)
State v. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 95, 196 P.3d 645 (2008)
State v. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d 620, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009)
Tapper v. Employment Security Department, 122 Wn.2d 397, 858 P.2d 494 (1993). 20

APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF -- PAGE vi

Thieu Lenh Nghiem v. State, 73 Wn. App. 405, 869 P.2d 1086 (1994)
Washington v. Ankney, 53 Wn. App. 393, 766 P.2d 1131 (1989) 19
Washington Medical Disciplinary Board v. Johnston, 99 Wn.2d 466, 663 P.2d 457 (1983)
Other Jurisdictions
Board of License Commissioners of the Town of Tiverton v. Pastore, 463 A.2d 161 (R.I. 1983)
City of Philadelphia v. Kenny, 369 A.2d 1343 (Pa.Commw.Ct. 1977)
Cohan v. Ayabe, 322 P.3d 948 (Haw. 2014)
De La Cruz v. Quackenbush, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 92 (Cal.App. 2000)31
Kildea v. Electro-Wire Products, Inc., 144 F.3d 400 (6th Cir. 1998) 21
Lewis v. Superior Court and Medical Board of California, 172 Cal. Rptr. 3d 491 (Cal. App. 2014), review granted, 334 P.3d 684 (Cal. 2014)
National Acceptance Company of America v. Bathalter, 705 F.2d 924 (7th Cir. 1983)
One 1995 Corvette v. Mayor and City Council of Baltimore, 724 A.2d 680 (Md. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 927, 120 S. Ct. 321, 145 L. Ed. 2d 250 (1999)
Oregon Prescription Drug Monitoring Program v. U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration, 998 F. Supp. 2d 957 (D. Oregon 2014) 29, 35, 36, 39, 40, 47
State v. Johnson, 814 So.2d 390 (Fla. 2002)
State v. Skinner, 10 So.3d 1212 (La. 2009)
State Bar of Michigan v. Woll, 194 N.W.2d 835 (Mich. 1972)5, 25, 47
APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF

-- PAGE vii

(Okla. 2009)
State ex rel. Vining v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 281 So.2d 487 (Fla. 1973)
Trust and Investment Advisers, Inc. v. Hogsett, 43 F.3d 290 (7th Cir. 1994)
United Church of the Medical Center v. Medical Center Commission, 689 F.2d 693 (7th Cir. 1982)
U.S. v. Haney, 264 F.3d 1161 (10th Cir. 2001)21
U.S. v. Koons, 300 F.3d 985 (8th Cir. 2002)
United States v. Wujkowski, 929 F.2d 981 (4th Cir. 1991)
State Statutes
1881 Code of (the Territory of) Washington
1891 Laws of Washington, Chapter CLIII (153)
1915 Laws of Washington, Chapter 2
1917 Laws of Washington, Chapter 19
1933 Laws of Washington, Chapter 2
RCW 9.94A.631(1)
RCW 18.130.040(2)(b)(vii)
RCW 18.130.050(7)
RCW 18.130.095(2)(a)
RCW 18.130.1006
RCW 18.130.1606, 12, 48
RCW 18.130.180(8) 6, 16, 20, 26, 44, 45, 47, 49-50
APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF PAGE viii

RCW 18.130.180(9) 16, 17, 44, 47
RCW 18.130.230(1)
RCW 34.05.020
RCW 34.05.425(3)
RCW 34.05.452(1)
RCW 34.05.461
RCW 34.05.5468
RCW 34.05.570(3)
RCW 70.02.050(2)(a) 6, 20, 26, 27, 31, 40, 46, 47, 50
RCW 70.225.040(3)
Administrative Regulations
WAC 10-08-2206
WAC 246-16-800(1)(a)
WAC 246-16-800(2)(b)(ii)
Court Rules
RAP 10.3(g)
RAP 10.3(h)
RAP 10.4(c)
Other Authorities
Clemens, The Pending Reinvigoration of Boyd: Personal Papers Are Protected by the Privilege Against Self-Incrimination, 25 N. Ill. U. L. Rev. 75 (2004)

APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF
-- PAGE ix

Comment, The Origin and Development of Washington's Independent Exclusionary Rule: Constitutional Right and Constitutionally Compelled Remedy, 61 Wash. L. Rev. 459 (1986)	-29	46
HIPAA – Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 42 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seg		

APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF -- PAGE x

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Main Question On Appeal

Is the licensee in a quasi-criminal professional license disciplinary action entitled to the same Fourth and Fifth Amendment protections and privileges, as appropriately enhanced by the Washington State Constitution, as the accused in a criminal case, regarding the absolute right to remain silent and privilege against self-incrimination without risk of sanction and adverse inference, and the protection of testimonial private records absent a search warrant?

B. Why Quasi-Criminal Actions Are Considered As Criminal Cases For Purposes Of The Fourth And Fifth Amendments

Almost 130 years ago, the U.S. Supreme Court recognized and ingrained in the constitutional common law the unique attributes of quasi-criminal actions and the reasons why they are co-equal with criminal cases as to certain fundamental constitutional rights, privileges and protections.

This case of forfeiture of private property to the government for claimed non-payment of import duties is not technically a criminal proceeding, and neither, therefore, within the literal terms of the fifth amendment to the constitution any more than it is within the literal terms of the fourth. Does this relieve the proceedings or the law from being obnoxious to the prohibitions of either? We think not; we think they are within the spirit of both. We have already noticed the intimate relation between the two amendments. They throw great light on each other. For the unreasonable searches and seizures condemned in the fourth amendment are almost always made for the purpose of compelling a man to give evidence against himself, which in criminal cases is condemned in the fifth amendment; and compelling a man in a criminal case to be a witness against himself, which is condemned in the fifth amendment, throws light on the question as to what is an unreasonable search and seizure within the meaning of the fourth amendment. And we have been unable to perceive that the seizure of a man's private

APPELLANT DALE ALSAGER'S MAIN BRIEF -- PAGE 1 OF 50 books and papers to be used in evidence against him is substantially different from compelling him to be a witness against himself. We think it is within the clear meaning and intent of those terms. We are also clearly of opinion that proceedings instituted for the purpose of declaring the forfeiture of a man's property by reason of offenses committed by him, though they may be civil in form, are in their nature criminal [and held to be] quasi-criminal [that] are within the reason of criminal proceedings for all the purposes of the fourth amendment of the constitution, and of that portion of the fifth amendment which declares that no person shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, and we are further of opinion that a compulsory production of the private books and papers of the owner of the goods sought to be forfeited in such a suit is compelling him to be a witness against himself, within the meaning of the fifth amendment of the constitution, and is the equivalent of a search and seizure - and an unreasonable search and seizure - within the meaning of the fourth amendment.

Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 633-34, 6 S. Ct. 524, 29 L. Ed. 746 (1886). Under and pursuant to Boyd, as constitutional precedent under the Supremacy Clause and Wash. Const. art. I, § 2, actions recognized as quasicriminal are entitled to much more protection than simply due process.

C. The Four Concrete Pillars Of Common Law And Constitutional Law Upon Which Dr Alsager's Appeal Is Firmly Supported

Since day one of the commencement of the DOH investigation, Dr Alsager has respectfully but firmly stood on four concrete pillars of common law and constitutional law in asserting his rights and privileges that are and must be recognized in this quasi-criminal action.¹ They are:

¹ Because Dr Alsager asks this Court to review not only the Board's Final Order of Permanent Revocation of his professional license but also the Prehearing Orders and Orders on Reconsideration that all relate to the issues raised by him in this Appeal and erroneously decided by Review Judge/Presiding Officer Kuntz, a full copy of each of the challenged Orders is presented in the APPENDIX. See APP, at 1. RAP 10.3(g); RAP 10.3(h); RAP 10 4(c).

- The common law pillar that Washington courts have long held that professional license disciplinary proceedings are quasi-criminal actions;
- The constitutional law pillar that quasi-criminal actions are entitled, just as in criminal cases, to the full and blanket protection of the U.S. Const., Amend. V right to remain silent and privilege against selfincrimination, unfettered and without risk of sanctions for their assertion and without adverse inference;
- 3. The constitutional law pillar that U.S. Const., Amends. IV and V as enhanced by the increased protection afforded private affairs and personal privacy by Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 7 and 9, prevents government agencies from obtaining private and personal medical records, including prescription records, from any source absent patient consent without probable cause and a validly issued search warrant; and
- 4. The common law pillar that, in quasi-criminal actions, documents obtained by an unlawful search and seizure are not competent evidence and are subject to the exclusionary rule as fruit of the poisonous tree.

The DOH and Board took their jack hammer and destroyed each and every one of these concrete common law and constitutional law pillars and in so doing imposed the ultimate punishment on Dr Alsager, the permanent revocation of his professional license as an Osteopathic Physician and Surgeon without any chance for reinstatement – the administrative death penalty. His right to remain silent and privilege against self-incrimination were cast aside and ignored as the prosecution was permitted to query an empty chair and the Panel was allowed to draw an adverse inference from Dr Alsager's standing on his constitutional rights. He was charged with and found guilty of unprofessional conduct for his failure to cooperate, again by standing on his constitutional rights. Alleged prescription records were obtained by DOH

admittedly without patient consent and without a search warrant supported by probable cause. Alleged prescription records obtained without authority of law and without any chain of custody and authentication were admitted over Dr Alsager's continuing objections. Rather than being declared inadmissible and excluded from the record as they should and must have been, all of the DOH-illegally obtained records were admitted over repeated objections and used as the sole basis for the Board Panel's erroneous findings and conclusions that Dr Alsager violated its 2008 Final Order.² All of the DOH and Board's cited legal authority stems from purely civil actions and on their face are clearly distinguishable and irrelevant to our case, and do not deserve any detailed analysis or further mention hereinafter. Here, quasicriminal is not a mere talisman as the State so fervently labors to have it characterized, it is dispositive! As further and persuasively noted in *Boyd*:

It may be that it is the obnoxious thing in its mildest and least repulsive form, but illegitimate and unconstitutional practices get their first footing in that way, namely, by silent approaches and slight deviations from legal modes of procedure. This can only be obviated by adhering to the rule that constitutional provisions for the security of person and property should be liberally construed. A close and literal construction deprives them of half their efficacy, and leads to gradual depreciation of the right, as if it consisted more in sound than in substance. It is the duty of courts to be watchful for the constitutional rights of the citizen, and against any stealthy encroachments thereon. Their motto should be *obsta principiis* [resist the first approaches or encroachments]. We have no doubt that the legislative body is actuated by the same motives; but the

.

² These provide more than sufficient legal grounds for this Court to vacate the Board's Final Order and direct the Board to reinstate Dr Alsager's license as an Osteopathic Physician and Surgeon. RCW 34.05.570(3)(a), -(c), -(d), -(e), -(f), -(g), -(h), -(i).

vast accumulation of public business brought before it sometimes prevents it, on a first presentation, from noticing objections which become developed by time and the practical application of the objectionable law.

Boyd, 116 U.S. at 634-35. Nothing, absolutely nothing, argued by the DOH and Board should be allowed to dissuade this Court from fully applying these foregoing legal principles and fundamental constitutional protections set forth in Boyd accorded the accused (here Dr Alsager), and private/personal records wherever located and by whomever kept (here private medical records including prescriptions), in quasi-criminal actions (here, the professional license disciplinary proceedings against Dr Alsager seeking, and obtaining, the forfeiture of his professional license and livelihood).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appellate review presents significant and far reaching legal issues under and pursuant to the federal and State Constitutions and State statutes including, *inter alia*:

1. Whether in the Board's quasi-criminal action against Dr Alsager and his professional license he is entitled as a matter of law to the blanket assertion and protection of his absolute U.S. Const., Amend. V right to remain silent and privilege against self-incrimination unfettered and without sanction or adverse inference?³

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