COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2015 SEP 30 AM 11: 50

NO. 47367-4

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DALE E. ALSAGER, D.O., Ph.D.,

Appellant,

V.

BOARD OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE AND SURGERY; WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH; STATE OF WASHINGTON, JOHN F. KUNTZ, JOHN WIESMAN, Dr. PH, MPH; and CATHERINE HUNTER, D.O.,

Respondents.

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KRISTIN G. BREWER, WSBA No. 38494 THOMAS F. GRAHAM, WSBA No. 41818 Assistant Attorneys General PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 (360) 664-9006

##

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

# 2. The State Constitution Does Not Prohibit The Required Records Doctrine

Dr. Alsager asserts that the required records doctrine will never be allowed in Washington because article I, section 7 of the state constitution provides broader protection than the Fourth Amendment. App. Br. at 30. He is wrong. The required records doctrine is not a Fourth Amendment doctrine. It is an exception to the Fifth Amendment. It states that certain documents are not privileged under the right against self-incrimination. Article I, section 7 provides no greater protection outside the search and seizure arena. *Ramm v. Seattle*, 66 Wn. App. 15, at 24-25, 830 P.2d 395 (1992).

### 3. The Privilege Against Self-Incrimination Does Not Shield Dr. Alsager From Disclosing Prescription And Other Medical Records

The patient records requested from Dr. Alsager during the Board's investigation fall within the scope of the "required records" exception. First, the investigator's request to Dr. Alsager for patient records was

Grosso, 390 U.S. at 64-65. See RCW 18.130.180(9); regulatory. conduct practice reviews): **RCW** 18.130.050(7) (authority 10 RCW 18.130.020(9) (defining "practice review"). Second, as an osteopathic physician, Dr. Alsager is legally required to keep prescription records and other patient records, the 2008 Order states that he does so, and he practices a profession where Board policy statements suggest patient records are customarily kept. WAC 246-853-663(3)(e)(iv); see also former WAC 246-853-510-540 (repealed May 2, 2011), WSR 07-11-058; AR 1818-49. The third "public aspects" element of Grosso is satisfied by several statutes and regulations. RCW 70.225; **RCW** 70.225.020(1); **RCW** 70.225.020(2); RCW 70.225.040(3); **RCW** 69.50.302(a); **RCW** 69.50.304(a)(3); RCW 69.50.306: RCW 69.50.302(f); RCW 69.50.402(d) and (e); RCW 70.02.050(2)(a).8

Under Washington law, the *Grosso* test is satisfied. Even if Dr. Alsager's theory that the Fifth Amendment privilege applies fully to the Board's case is correct, the privilege would not shield him from providing prescription and patient records to the Board.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In fact, Dr. Alsager submitted an exhibit for the 2014 hearing demonstrating that he routinely keeps electronic medical records and dictates exams to an assistant who records them in real time. AR 843-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dr. Alsager's argument that requests for patient records violate the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPPA) is incorrect. App. Br. at 36. HIPPA regulations permit physicians to disclose medical records to licensing authorities. 45 C.F.R. §§ 164.512(a) and 45 C.F.R. §§ 164.512(d)(1). Thus HIPAA does not apply to the Board in disciplinary actions.

# D. Finding 1.10 of the Board's Order Is Supported By Substantial Evidence

The only finding that Dr. Alsager challenges for lack of substantial evidence is Finding 1.10:<sup>9</sup>

The Board previously determined in the 2008 Final Order that the restrictions on prescribing and retraining placed on the Respondent by the Order were necessary to protect the public and to rehabilitate the Respondent. The Board provided the Respondent with a rehabilitation plan that would allow him to remove the restriction. The evidence shows the Respondent began to violate the Final Order by writing prescriptions for Schedule III controlled substances as early as September 17, 2008 and through at least February 15, 2013. The Panel finds the Respondent's conduct (the issuance of numerous Schedule III controlled substance prescriptions) shows a disregard of the 2008

Final Order. As a result, the Board finds there is no rehabilitation plan that will ensure the Respondent's compliance.

#### AR 1711-12.

Dr. Alsager argues this finding lacks substantial evidence, by asserting that he completed the pain management course. This argument is a red herring. App. Br. at 9. Finding 1.10 does not mention whether Dr. Alsager completed a program in pain management.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Dr. Alsager nominally challenges other findings for substantial evidence, but his other challenges are all contingent on the outcome of his constitutional arguments.

Prior to hearing, the parties stipulated to remove the issue concerning Dr. Alsager's attendance at a pain management course from the hearing proceeding:

The Parties stipulate that the issue of whether Dr. Alsager has completed the pain management course is disputed. The parties agree that they will not provide exhibits or testimony regarding the pain management course during the hearing. Accordingly, the Department will not need witnesses: Bruce Bronoske, Dr. Taubin or Megan Brown.

AR 1446. And yet, Dr. Alsager challenges Finding 1.10 of the 2008 Order "on the grounds that such Finding omits critical reference to the parties' Prehearing Stipulation set forth in Paragraph 2." App. Br. at 9. Dr. Alsager then refers to information not introduced at hearing because of the parties' agreement. App. Br. at 9, n. 11. The Court should reject his challenge because it is based solely on information outside the hearing record. RCW 34.05.558; *Clausing*, 90 Wn. App. at 870.

The Court should also reject his challenge to Finding 1.10 because whether he completed a pain management course in 2012 is immaterial to the validity of the finding. The finding is supported by the evidence of Dr. Alsager's prescribing behavior.

Additionally, Dr. Alsager argues that he completed the program by September 21, 2012; even if that were true and relevant, the final order relies on two prescriptions he wrote *after* September 21, 2012. None of

his arguments negate the fact that his prescribing schedule III controlled substances prior to September 21, 2012, were indisputably a violation of the Board's 2008 Order restricting such conduct. AR 1707-10.<sup>10</sup>

Therefore, the Board's finding that Respondent had not been rehabilitated is supported by substantial evidence.

### E. The Remainder of Dr. Alsager's Assignments Of Error Lack Merit

#### 1. The Sanction

Dr. Alsager asserts that the Board improperly failed to follow its own sanctioning rules. App. Br. at 47. An agency's determination of sanctions is accorded considerable judicial deference as it is peculiarly a matter of administrative competence. *Brown v. Dep't of Health, Dental Disciplinary Bd.*, 94 Wn. App. 7, 16, 972 P.2d 101 (1998).

First, Dr. Alsager argues that the Board failed to consider any mitigating factors in derogation of the rules in chapter 246-16 WAC. But he misreads the rules. The list of mitigating and aggravating factors need only be used when determining sanctions by schedule. WAC 246-16-800(3)(d)(i)-(iii). Here, Dr. Alsager's violations did not fall under any sanction schedule. WAC 246-16-810 - 860. Dr. Alsager's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See Dr. Alsager's attorney letter claiming that the last requirement under the 2008 Board Order was completed on September 21, 2012. AR 0206. However, he did not notify the Board that he believed he had completed the program or issue his "opinion letter" to the Board until November 14, 2012. AR 0201. All the prohibited prescriptions were written before November of 2012.

argument fails because he can demonstrate no Board duty to consider mitigating circumstances.

Second, Dr. Alsager contends that the Board failed to find that Dr. Alsager could "never be rehabilitated or can never regain the ability to practice with reasonable skill and safety." App. Br. at 48-49. His contention overlooks the plain language in the Board's order. Paragraphs 2.7 and 2.8 of the Board's order explain that no lesser measure could protect the public and that all attempts at rehabilitation had failed:

The Panel concludes the Respondent cannot be rehabilitated. See RCW 18.130.160 and WAC 246-16-800(2)(b)(ii). The Board Panel did not reach this decision lightly and considered whether there was any lesser sanction that would protect the public in this case.

AR 1713-15. The Order states that he cannot be rehabilitated and cites the correct statutory and WAC provisions containing the specific the language Dr. Alsager complains is missing. A finding that one "cannot" be rehabilitated and that one "can never" be rehabilitated is a distinction without a difference. The Court should reject Dr. Alsager's meritless challenge to the Board's sanction.

### 2. Appearance of Fairness

In a footnote,<sup>11</sup> Dr. Alsager contends that the Board's Presiding Officer erred by not disqualifying Dr. Shannon Markegard from the hearing panel.<sup>12</sup> App. Br. at 44, n.62. But he fails to articulate a legally cognizable argument under the Appearance of Fairness doctrine. In fact, there was no argument or evidence established in the administrative hearing that Dr. Markegard had: (1) prejudged the issues in the case; (2) demonstrated partiality evidencing a personal bias or prejudice against a party; or (3) had an interest where she stood to gain or lose by a decision either way.

Administrative decision-makers are presumed to perform their quasi-judicial functions properly and a person claiming an appearance of fairness violation is required to present specific evidence of a violation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Prehearing and at hearing, Dr. Alsager requested for recusal/disqualification of certain Board members and the presiding officer. AR 96-101, AR 104-110, AR 944-58. The motions were denied. AR 278-88, AR 1435-41.

The legislature intended the Board of Osteopathic Physicians to govern the practice of osteopathic medicine in the state of Washington through its seven members appointed by the Governor. These are to be comprised of one consumer member and six other members who "must have been in active practice as a licensed osteopathic physician in this state for at least five years immediately preceding appointment." RCW 18.57.003. If one takes the legislative requirements and overlies every disqualifier described by Dr. Alsager, there could be no hearing panel. The Board would have to utilize a panel comprised of only new Board members (unlikely that there are three of a total of seven); or find *pro tem* members who are Osteopathic physicians but who are retired (so as not to be competitors) but who have been retired very recently (must have been in practice for the immediate five years preceding appointment).

not speculation. City of Lake Forest Park v. State of Wash. Shorelines Hearings Bd., 76 Wn. App. 212, 217, 884 P.2d 614 (1994). Board members are treated the same as judges in terms of the appearance of fairness doctrine and the same legal standards apply. RCW 34.05.425(3); Faghih v. Washington State Dept. of Health, Dental Quality Assur. Comm n. 148 Wn. App. 836, 845, 202 P.3d 962, rev. denied, 166 Wn.2d 1025 (2009); Johnston, 99 Wn.2d 466 at 475. The "presumption is that public officers will legally perform their duties until the contrary is shown." Faghih, 148 Wn. App. at 843 (other citations omitted).

Without argument or evidence, Dr. Alsager simply asks the Court to join in his assumption that: (1) any prior exposure by a panel member to Dr. Alsager's practice should disqualify them from considering his case; and (2) that Dr. Markegard, and all osteopaths in the South Sound area, in particular Maple Valley, were his direct financial competitors. App. Br. at 44, n. 62. Dr. Alsager presents no evidence to rebut the presumption that Board members perform their duties properly. He "is required to present specific evidence of a violation, not speculation." *City of Lake Forest Park*, 76 Wn. App. at 217. Without doing so, his argument fails.

# 3. Admissibility of State Prescription Monitoring Program and Pharmacy Records

Next, Dr. Alsager asserts that the admission of a printout from the state prescription monitoring program, showing prescriptions he had written, and admission of pharmacy records was error because it was done "without foundation or proof of a chain of custody." App. Br. at 43 (citing his motion at AR 1002).

Finding that the investigations had been Board authorized, the Presiding Officer admitted the State prescription monitoring program data and pharmacy records during the prehearing conference as Exhibits D-15 and 16. See AR 1643-44; WAC 246-11-390(5). When Dr. Alsager challenged the chain of custody and authenticity of the records at hearing, the Presiding Officer cited his prehearing order No 12, stating, "I have previously ruled that these exhibits will be admitted." AR 2081 lines 5-7. He further explained that, "the documents are admitted. So if you're challenging the authenticity at this point, I believe our procedural rules preclude that from happening." AR 2081, 13-15.

The trial court is "necessarily vested with a wide latitude of discretion in determining admissibility which will not be disturbed absent clear abuse." *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 21, 691 P.2d 292 (1984). Here, the model rules for Boards require parties to offer and object to

evidence at a prehearing conference so that exhibits can be pre-admitted. WAC 246-11-390. The Presiding Officer did not abuse his discretion by following established hearing procedures.

Further, the authenticity and chain of custody of the prescription records were established by the investigator's testimony and Dr. Alsager's silence. Dr. Alsager's counsel questioned the investigator, and argued to the panel about the weight of the admitted evidence. The investigator testified that Exhibit 15 was a copy of the prescription monitoring program report that she obtained regarding Dr. Alsager. AR 2068. She further testified that Exhibit 16 was a copy of the prescription profile and actual prescriptions written by Dr. Alsager which she obtained from Costco Pharmacy. AR 2068.

On cross-examination, the investigator testified that the scripts are connected to Dr. Alsager's DEA registration. AR 2078. On re-direct, she testified that the signature on the prescriptions at D-16 matched the other signatures of Dr. Alsager that she had seen. AR 2090. Finally, she stated that she had seen his signature on previous orders issued to him through the Board. The investigator handled the previous investigations of Dr. Alsager, including her investigation of Patients A – H in the 2008 matter. There, she also reviewed prescriptions signed by him. AR 2091-92.

Finally, Dr. Alsager had the opportunity to avow or disavow that he had written the prescriptions, that the prescriptions were written for schedule III controlled substances, or that he had some other understanding of the Order. AR 2057-64. Dr. Alsager was asked whether he received the request from the Board investigator and refused to produce patient records. AR 2063-64. He was also given the opportunity to testify about what he had learned since the 2008 Order or how he had changed his practice in light of those findings. AR 2060-63. Dr. Alsager did not answer these questions. Therefore, his argument fails.

### 4. Assignments Of Error Not Argued Are Waived

Dr. Alsager assigns error to all but two prehearing orders issued in this case. However, he fails to discuss or argue them in his brief. These assignments of error are therefore waived. *Brown*, 94 Wn. App. at 13.

//

//

### VI. CONCLUSION

Dr. Alsager has not demonstrated any error by the Board or constitutional infirmity in its procedures or the statutes that govern them. The Department therefore respectfully requests that this Court deny Dr. Alsager's petition for judicial review.